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September 12, 2022 
 
Mohammed Hassan    Scott Klein     
2425 Neibel     30016 Adorne Drive 
Hamtramck, MI 48212   Novi, MI 48377      
 
Re: Lasley v. Hassan et al. 

Campaign Finance Complaint No. 2020-12-203-24 
 

Dear Mr. Hassan and Mr. Klein: 
 
The Department of State (Department) has finished investigating the campaign finance 
complaint filed against you by Carrie Lasley alleging that you violated the Michigan Campaign 
Finance Act (MCFA or Act). This letter concerns the disposition of that complaint. 
 
The complaint alleged that, despite acting as part of the committee “Keep Hamtramck Safe,” you 
failed to file a statement of organization with the proper filing official. Additionally, the 
complaint alleged that you failed to report expenditures for online advertisements, robotexts, and 
robocalls that took specific positions on ballot questions.  
 
The Department twice invited you to respond to Ms. Lasley’s complaint, once by regular mail 
and once by certified mail. The certified mail correspondence, dated March 1, 2022, informed 
you that a failure to respond within 15 business days of that notice would leave the Department 
with no alternative but to make its determination based solely on the documentation furnished by 
Ms. Lasley. To date, the Department has not received a response from Mr. Hassan to those letters 
or to any other communication from the Department. 
 
A response to the complaint was received by Mr. Klein where he argues that he did not make any 
expenditures towards this group or the ballot questions and was not involved in the ballot 
question campaign. 
 
Under the MCFA, a committee is a “person that receives contributions or makes expenditures for 
the purpose of influencing or attempting to influence the action of the voters for or against the 
nomination or election of a candidate, the qualification, passage, or defeat of a ballot question, or 
the qualification of a new political party, if contributions received total $500.00 or more in a 
calendar year or expenditures made total $500.00 or more in a calendar year.” MCL 169.203(4). 
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An expenditure is “a payment . . . in assistance of, or in opposition to . . . the qualification, 
passage, or defeat of a ballot question.” MCL 169.206(1). 
 
Section 24 requires committees to file a statement of organization with the proper filing official 
within 10 days after the committee is formed. MCL 169.224(1). Section 24 details specific 
requirements for all statements of organization that must be filed. See MCL 169.224(2)-(3). A 
person who fails to file a timely statement is subject to a civil fine of up to $1,000. MCL 
169.221(13). A person who fails to file a statement of organization shall pay a late filing fee of 
$10.00 per business day the report is not filed, not to exceed $300. MCL 169.224(1). A person 
failing to file a statement of organization after 30 days is guilty of a misdemeanor punishable by 
a fine of up to $1,000. Id. 
 
Additionally, the MCFA requires committees file contributions and expenditures with the 
appropriate filing official by specific dates. MCL 169.233(1) – (3). The Act requires a committee 
that receives or expends more than $1,000 during any election to file campaign finance reports in 
compliance with the act. MCL 16.233(6). A person who knowingly omits or underreports 
expenditures required to be disclosed by the Act is subject to a civil fine of not more than $1,000 
or the amount of the expenditures omitted or underreported, whichever is greater. MCL 
169.233(11). Section 34 promulgates specific requirements and penalties for ballot question 
committees. See MCL 169.234.  
 
First, the Department has determined that sufficient evidence has been presented to demonstrate 
that Mr. Hassan organized and operated the committee Keep Hamtramck Safe,1 that Keep 
Hamtramck Safe made expenditures intended to influence the passage of ballot questions in 
Hamtramck, that those expenditures likely totaled more than $500, and, consequently, that Keep 
Hamtramck safe was a ballot question committee regulated by the MCFA. 2 The Department 
finds that Mr. Hassan is likely affiliated with Keep Hamtramck Safe because the Keep 
Hamtramck Safe website, mimaps.org, was purchased by an individual who gave Mr. Hassan’s 
2019 address as their own.  
 
Second, the Department dismisses the allegations against Mr. Klein as there is insufficient 
evidence to conclude that a potential violation has occurred.  While the evidence demonstrates 
that Mr. Klein is arguably a member of the group and has spoken to media about the group, there 

 
1 Although the committee may not have been formally named Keep Hamtramck Safe, the complaint alleges that you 
worked in concert on the website and associated advertisements that used that heading. Regardless of formal 
naming, a committee is formed when two or more people coordinate to make expenditures to influence an election, 
as previously described. As such, for the purposes of the complaint, we will refer to the committee as Keep 
Hamtramck Safe. 

2 These conclusions are drawn from the evidence presented by Ms. Lasley. Because Mr. Hassan did not respond to 
notices of the complaint filed against them, the Department must accept Ms. Lasley’s undisputed allegations as true 
in evaluating whether a potential violation has occurred.  
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is insufficient evidence demonstrating that Mr. Klein is in charge of the group and required to 
file reports.  Even assuming Mr. Klein is a member, the only violation being alleged here is that 
a formal committee has not been formed and that reports have not been filed.  It would not be a 
violation against Mr. Klein to be a member and speak to the public.   
 
Facebook advertisements targeting Hamtramck residents were also purchased. These 
advertisements, which were titled “Keep Hamtramck Safe,” reiterated the position taken on 
mimaps.org. The advertisements linked to mimaps.org. Additionally, Hamtramck residents with 
a Michigan phone number received a robotext advocating for Propositions 1 and 2. While the 
text did not state it came from a particular committee, some of the texts included taglines 
connecting the texts to mimaps.org.  
 
In light of the events explained above, the Department finds that sufficient evidence has been 
presented to support a finding of a potential violation of the MCFA. Mr. Hassan’s website, as 
well as the Facebook advertisements and text messages linked to the website, were intended to 
persuade Hamtramck residents to vote in favor of multiple ballot propositions. Additionally, the 
cost of the website, Facebook advertisements, and robotexts likely exceeded $500. As a result, 
Keep Hamtramck Safe’s activities related to Propositions 1 and 2 made Keep Hamtramck Safe a 
ballot question committee regulated by the MCFA. MCL 169.202(3), 203(4). Although Keep 
Hamtramck Safe was a ballot question committee, the organization filed neither a Statement of 
Organization nor periodic campaign finance statements, as required by law3  
 
After reaching these conclusions, the Act requires the Department to “endeavor to correct the 
violation or prevent further violation by using informal methods” if it finds that “there may be 
reason to believe that a violation . . . has occurred.” MCL 169.215(1). The objective of an 
informal resolution is “to correct the violation of prevent a further violation.” Id. 
 
The Department will consider the matter resolved upon receipt of a proper filing of both a 
statement of organization and campaign finance report(s), if necessary, by Mr. Hassan. 
 
This letter serves to notify you and your clients that the Department has determined there may be 
reason to believe that you have violated the Act and to notify you and your clients that the 
Department is beginning the informal resolution process. “If, after 90 business days, the 
secretary of state is unable to correct or prevent further violation by these informal methods, the 
secretary of state shall do either of the following:  
 

(a) Refer the matter to the attorney general for the enforcement of any criminal penalty 
provided by this act.  
(b) Commence a hearing as provided in subsection (11) for enforcement of any civil 
violation.” 

 
3 A ballot question committee that receives less than $1,000 in contributions and makes less than $1,000 in 
expenditures during the election cycle may request a reporting waiver on its Statement of Organization relieving the 
committee of the duty to file campaign statements. Because you did not file a Statement of Organization, however, 
you could not have requested the reporting waiver. 
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MCL 169.215(11).   
 
Please contact the undersigned at BOERegulatory@michigan.gov by October 25, 2022 to discuss 
a resolution to matter.  If the Department is unable to reach a resolution, by January 30, 2022 the 
Department will have no choice but to refer the matter to the Department of Attorney General. 
 

Sincerely, 
 

 
Adam Fracassi, Regulatory Manager 
Regulatory Section 
Bureau of Elections 
Michigan Department of State 
 

c: Ms. Carrie Lasley 
 

 
 







 

 
MICHIGAN BUREAU OF  ELECTIONS  
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February 9, 2023 
 

Mohammed Hassan 
2425 Neibel 
Hamtramck, MI 48212       
 
Re: Lasley v. Hassan et al. 

Campaign Finance Complaint No. 2020-12-203-24 

 
Dear Mr. Hassan: 
 
The Department of State (Department) has finished investigating the campaign finance 
complaint filed against you by Carrie Lasley alleging that you violated the Michigan Campaign 
Finance Act (MCFA or Act). This letter concerns the disposition of that complaint. 
 
As described in the Department’s September 12, 2022 determination, given the evidence 
submitted by Ms. Lasley and in the absence of a response from you, the Department initially 
found that there was sufficient evidence to determine there may be reason to believe that you 
violated the MCFA. Your address was provided as the address of Keep Hamtramck Safe, a ballot 
question committee that subsequently failed to file required campaign finance reports.   
 
Following the issuance of the determination, you contacted the Department, stated that you had 
no connection with Keep Hamtramck Safe and, pursuant to the Department’s request, submitted 
an affidavit stating the same.  
 
Accordingly, the Department dismisses the allegations against you as it did for the other party 
against whom the complaint was filed. While the evidence demonstrates that the address given 
for the website associated with Keep Hamtramck Safe is yours, there is insufficient evidence 
demonstrating that you are in charge of the group and required to file reports on its behalf. 
 
You stated in your affidavit that you have no current or former relationship or involvement with 
the group “Keep Hamtramck Safe,” that you do not know how the group was funded, and that 
you therefore do not possess the requisite information that would allow you to file a campaign 
finance report for the group.   
 
Because the violation of the MCFA alleged in the complaint has not been substantiated by  
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sufficient evidence, the Department dismisses the complaint and will take no further enforcement 
action. If you have any questions concerning this matter, you may contact me at 
BOERegulatory@Michigan.gov.  
  

Sincerely, 
 
         
        

Jenny McInerney, Regulatory Attorney 
Bureau of Elections 
Michigan Department of State 
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